STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Aiken County

Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

---

KAYLA MOORE,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001249

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**RECEIVED**

**May 19 2022**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Was the guilty plea to murder, entered without negotiations or recommendations, rendered involuntary by counsel's failure to obtain and provide Petitioner with the results of forensic analysis of weapons believed to have been used in the crime?

## STATEMENT

In May of 2018, the Aiken County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Kayla Nicole Moore, for murder, indictment #2018-GS-02-01067. (App. pp. 62-63). On July 26, 2018, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, and entered a guilty plea, without negotiations or recommendations, to murder. C. David Hayes represented Petitioner at the plea. Samuel B. Grimes prosecuted the case. Petitioner was eighteen (18) years old at the time of her arrest and nineteen (19) at the time of the plea. Based on her age and the seriousness of the crime, Judge Early requested a presentence report. (App. p. 19, lines 7-21).

On December 13, 2018, Petitioner again appeared before Judge Early for sentencing. C. David Hayes represented Petitioner at the sentencing hearing. Samuel B. Grimes represented the State. Judge Early reviewed the prepared presentence report and noted that, “It actually didn’t shed a whole lot of light on anything.” (App. p. 27, lines 8-9). After hearing from the defense and the State, Judge Early sentenced Petitioner to life in prison. (App. p. 59, line 16 – p. 60, lines 1-3; p. 64). A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed but dismissed for failure to provide an explanation pursuant to Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(iv), SCACR.

On May 28, 2019, Petitioner filed a *pro se* application for post-conviction relief [PCR]. (App. pp. 65-71). On August 29, 2019, the State filed a return and motion for more definite statement. (App. pp. 72-81). On September 24, 2020, Petitioner, represented by counsel, filed an amended application. (App. pp. 82-83). On June 3, 2021, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy. Nancy Fennell represented Petitioner at the hearing. Megan Jamison represented the State. In a written order filed on September 27, 2021, Judge McCoy denied relief and dismissed the application. (App. pp. 147-163). A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on October 29, 2021. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

**The guilty plea to murder, entered without negotiations or recommendations, was rendered involuntary by counsel's failure to obtain and provide Petitioner with the results of forensic analysis of weapons believed to have been used in the crime.**

Petitioner and her co-defendant, Jayson Miles, were charged in connection with the death of David Mackey, an acquaintance of Petitioner's mother who was allowing Petitioner to live in a mobile home on his property. (App. p. 18, lines 16-25). Petitioner entered a guilty plea to murder, without negotiations or recommendations. (App. p. 64). At the time of the plea Petitioner was nineteen (19) years old. (App. p. 7, lines 12-14). She received a life sentence. (App. p. 64).

During the May 2018, guilty plea hearing the prosecutor told the judge that the deceased had wounds to his head and chest as well as a stab wound in the neck. (App. p. 16, lines 22-24). Petitioner and Miles were arrested in Georgia using the deceased's car. (App. pp. 13-14). Miles implicated himself and Petitioner but claimed it was Petitioner's idea. (App. pp. 15-16). Miles admitted initially striking the deceased. (App. p. 16, line 1). According to Miles they both had hammers. (App. p. 16, lines 2-3). Miles admitted striking the deceased with an air soft gun. (App. p. 16, lines 1-15). After their arrest police found only one hammer, an air soft gun and a knife in the deceased's car used by Miles and Petitioner. All of the items appeared to have blood on them. (App. p. 17 lines 5-8). Petitioner told the police that the knife was hers but made no statement about using the knife. (App. p. 17, lines 8-11).

Petitioner maintained that the co-defendant, Miles, killed Mackey by himself and set the mobile home on fire because Petitioner told Miles that she heard an allegation of inappropriate behavior by Mackey from years ago. (App. p. 33, lines 1-6). During the guilty plea defense counsel told the judge that Miles threw Petitioner's belongings in the yard, told her to load the car and they

left together. (App. p. 33, lines 6-18). Miles was a friend of Petitioner's from high school and she did not want to betray him. (App. p. 33, lines 10-18).

During the December 2018, sentencing hearing the prosecutor told the judge that after Petitioner entered the guilty plea to murder but before the sentencing hearing, the State received DNA results from the hammer found in the car. (App. p. 37, lines 17-25). The DNA on the hammer matched the profile of the deceased. There is no reference to forensic evidence linking Petitioner to the hammer, the knife or the airsoft gun.

In her *pro se* PCR application Petitioner stated that the guilty plea was not knowing because of missing discovery forensics. (App. p. 67). In the amended application filed by PCR counsel Petitioner alleges ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to provide discovery. (App. p. 83). During the PCR hearing when asked about discussions with plea counsel, Petitioner testified, "Yes, ma'am, I asked him where are the forensics lab testing to say that my fingerprints are on any of the weapons and he bypassed that whole question and ignored it." (App. p. 105, lines 7-9). Petitioner testified that DNA testing was not brought up at the guilty plea hearing. (App. p. 105, lines 12-14). PCR counsel asked Petitioner, "So, if you had been aware previously that there, that there were - - was no DNA testing done, and no fingerprint of your connecting you to the alleged crime, how would that have affected your decision on whether to enter into a guilty plea?" (App. p. 105, lines 19-23). Petitioner answered, "It would of never happened. Never. Never." App. p. 105, line 24). While neither Petitioner's fingerprints nor the co-defendant's fingerprints were found on the hammer, air soft gun or knife, as Petitioner correctly noted at the PCR hearing, "The fact that my handprints aren't on anything. Miles stated that he used the hammer and that I used one. But only one hammer had blood on it and Jason is the only one who said he used one." (App. p. 101, lines 4-7).

Plea counsel admitted that he received the DNA analysis after the guilty plea. (App. p. 124, lines 1-3; p. 125, lines 1-12). When asked if he explained to Petitioner prior to her straight up guilty plea to murder that the DNA testing was not complete, plea counsel testified, “I don’t recall. I do know we had explicit discussion about what it would show and that, in my opinion on it, is that it would not help or hurt us.” (App. p. 125, lines 13-17). Plea counsel explained:

And her story is that they were at the house. She had told Mr. Miles about a story of the victim of being supposedly a rapist back years past with a softball team. And once that was said, that Mr. Miles got up and said that ‘s all he needed to know, went into the trailer, and came out and was throwing her stuff out. The gas can was there. They picked the gas can up or he picked the gas can up. She loaded the car and he set the trailer on fire and they left to Atlanta.

(App. p. 125, line 19 – p. 126, lines 1-2). When asked again on cross-examination if he told Petitioner that DNA results were forthcoming, plea counsel answered that he believed that would have been in the discussions about pleading guilty and waiving defenses. (App. p. 135, lines 13-25). When asked if he advised Petitioner to wait until he received all of the evidence before moving forward, plea counsel answered that he did not believe the evidence would be beneficial. (App. p. 136, lines 4-10).

At the end of the PCR hearing PCR counsel argued:

I believe the testimony, you know, presented by Miss Moore indicates that, you know, based on, her belief, and the situation at the time that she entered into the guilty plea, by virtue of the fact that not all the discovery was available at that time, that that, in and, in and of itself, indicates that not all defenses were investigated or discussed and, and well thought out with her because of that missing information. And I think her testimony to the effect that, that she had that information available to her at that time would have impacted her decision on whether to enter into a guilty plea.”

(App. p. 142, line 20 – p. 143, lines 1-6). The PCR judge noted that the issue involving the outstanding discovery was “one of the strongest ones I’ve heard thus far.” (App. p. 144, lines 18-19; 8-17).

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge addressed an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to provide Applicant with full discovery and wrote:

This Court finds Applicant cannot meet her burden of proof as to this allegation. This Court finds counsel and Applicant both testified that they discussed that additional analysis from SLED had not been completed, but despite this, Applicant wished to plead guilty to resolve her case as quickly as possible. The transcript from the sentencing proceeding supports counsel's testimony that the DNA report had not been complete at the time of the plea but was at the time of sentencing and was not exculpatory. (Dec. 13, 2018 Tr. 15-16). This Court finds counsel properly reviewed all available discovery with Applicant prior to her plea, discussed that SLED analysis was still forthcoming, and that following the review and discussion, Applicant made a decision to enter a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent guilty plea. This Court finds this allegation must be denied and dismissed with prejudice.

(App. pp. 160-161). The PCR judge erred. While the forensic report on the hammer was not exculpatory, it was not inculpatory and could have been used to impeach Miles' testimony at trial.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052). First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel's representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-88, 104 S.Ct. 2052. "Under this prong, '[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.'" Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel's performance in such a manner that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id.

The Strickland test operates similarly when an applicant claims counsel was ineffective in the context of a guilty plea. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985). A guilty plea may not be accepted unless it is voluntarily and understandingly made. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969). “To find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly entered into, the record must establish the defendant had a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him.” Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 33, 528 S.E.2d 418, 421 (2000). “A defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of the constitutional rights which accompany a guilty plea ‘may be accomplished by colloquy between the Court and the defendant, between the Court and defendant's counsel, or both.’ ” Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 625 (1999) (quoting State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993)). “The longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is ‘whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.’ ” Hill, 474 U.S. at 56, 106 S.Ct. 366 (quoting North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 31, 91 S.Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162 (1970)).

“The second, or ‘prejudice,’ requirement ... focuses on whether counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process.” Hill, 474 U.S. at 59, 106 S.Ct. 366. “A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of a plea by showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009).


In Frierson v. State, 423 S.C. 257, 262, 815 S.E.2d 433, 436 (2018), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant has the burden of proving “(1) counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms; and (2) counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the applicant's case.” McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 40, 661 S.E.2d 354, 357 (2008). In order to establish prejudice when challenging a guilty plea, a defendant must prove “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have gone to trial.” Harden v. State, 360 S.C. 405, 408, 602 S.E.2d 48, 49 (2004). The crux of the inquiry is whether counsel's ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process, not whether the defendant would have been successful had he gone to trial. Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 539, 542, 402 S.E.2d 484, 485 (1991). As the United States Supreme Court stated in Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985), “[I]n order to satisfy the ‘prejudice’ requirement, the defendant must show there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.”

Plea counsel was ineffective in failing to obtain and provide Petitioner with the results of forensic analysis of weapons believed to have been used in the crime. Plea counsel’s deficient performance affected the plea process and prejudiced Petitioner’s case, rendering the guilty plea involuntary. The guilty plea in the present case does not represent a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant because of counsel’s failure to review the forensic evidence prior to the guilty plea. There is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s deficient performance, Petitioner would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. The judge erred in refusing to grant relief.

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the above argument this Court should grant the petition for writ of certiorari to allow further briefing on the issue.

  
Kathrine H. Hudgins  
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

This 19<sup>th</sup> day of May, 2022.