STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Sep 19 2022

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Aiken County
Doyet A. Early III, Plea Judge
Jennifer B. McCoy, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2021-001249

KAYLA MOORE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly found that Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional deprivations entitling her to post-conviction relief based on a claim that counsel failed to obtain and provide Petitioner with the results of forensic analysis of weapons used to commit the horrific beating death of the elderly victim because the record firmly establishes Petitioner entered a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary plea with the advice of competent counsel who fully investigated the case, explained to Petitioner that forensic analysis was still forthcoming, and, despite this, Petitioner ultimately elected to plead guilty as soon as possible to resolve the case rather than wait for the pending results which were ultimately not exculpatory.

On appeal, Petitioner asserts the post-conviction relief court erred in rejecting her claim that her guilty plea was voluntary based on her assertions that plea counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain and provide her with the results of forensic analysis of a weapon used in the murder. Specifically, Petitioner asserts that she would not have pled guilty had she known that the forensic report of the bloody hammer, which was found in the victim's car that Petitioner and her co-defendant Miles used to flee the state immediately following the brutal murder, did not have her fingerprints or DNA on it. Petitioner avers that, "[w]hile the forensic report on the hammer was not exculpatory, it was not inculpatory and could have been used to impeach Miles' testimony at trial." (PWC p. 6). However, the record firmly establishes that Petitioner entered her voluntarily entered her guilty plea knowing that the forensic analysis of several items found in the victim's car had not been completed because she was so eager to resolve the case by guilty plea as soon as possible that she did not even want to wait for a pre-sentencing report as recommended by counsel and ordered by the court. The record also firmly establishes she entered this knowing, intelligent, and voluntary guilty plea with the advice of competent counsel who properly investigated her case and correctly advised her as to the available defenses and options to resolve her case. The post-conviction relief court properly determined counsel was not constitutionally ineffective in his representation of Petitioner and Petitioner's plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. These

findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by the record. This Court should deny certiorari.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee Petitioner, like all other defendants, the right to effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Taylor v. State, 404 S.C. 350, 359, 745 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2013). In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations by a preponderance of the evidence—a mere allegation of ineffective assistance is not sufficient to warrant granting relief. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The reviewing court applies the two-part test outlined in Strickland to determine whether counsel’s conduct “was so ineffective as to require reversal” of the applicant’s conviction or sentence. 466 U.S. at 687. First, the applicant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient; and second, that the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant. Id. at 668; Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

Because the Sixth Amendment right to counsel also applies to a defendant entering a guilty plea, Hill v. Lockhart extended the two-part Strickland test to challenge guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel.” Hill, 474 U.S. 52; cf. Padilla, 559 U.S. at 373 (recognizing the guilty plea process is a “critical phase of litigation” for purposes of the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel). A claim of ineffective assistance of guilty plea counsel requires the applicant present evidence satisfying two prongs: first, evidence that counsel’s performance was deficient; and second, evidence that counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced the defendant by causing him to plead guilty rather than go to trial. Hill, 474 U.S. 52.

When reviewing a guilty plea, the analysis of counsel’s performance under the first prong of Strickland remains unchanged—the applicant must show counsel’s representation fell below

the objective standard of reasonableness demanded of attorneys in criminal cases. Hill, 474 U.S. at 58–59; accord Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 115, 531 S.E.2d 294, 296 (2000). An applicant alleging his plea was induced by ineffective assistance of counsel must prove counsel’s advice to plead guilty was not “within the competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.” Hill, 474 U.S. at 56.

The second, or “prejudice” prong, however, “focuses on whether counsel’s constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process.” Id. at 58–59. Specifically, when an applicant claims counsel’s deficient performance caused him to accept a plea, the applicant “must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for [plea] counsel’s [alleged] errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.” Id. at 59. This inquiry “focuses on a defendant’s decisionmaking” and does not turn on the outcome of a defendant’s actual criminal proceeding or potential outcome had a defendant chosen to proceed to trial. Lee v. United States, 582 U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. 1958, 1966 (2017). However, an applicant must convince the court that a decision to reject the plea bargain would have been rational under the circumstances. Padilla, 559 U.S. at 372. The question here is whether the applicant, if correctly informed of circumstances surrounding the plea, would have pleaded guilty—not whether counsel would have still advised him or her to plead guilty. Turner v. State, 335 S.C. 382, 385, 517 S.E.2d 442, 444 (1999).

Surmounting Strickland’s high bar is never an easy task, and the strong societal interest in finality has “special force with respect to convictions based on guilty pleas.” Lee, 582 U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. at 1967 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted); cf. Hill, 474 U.S. at 58 (“[R]equiring a ‘prejudice’ showing from defendants who seek to challenge the validity of their guilty pleas on the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel ‘will serve the fundamental interest

in the finality of guilty pleas.”). Reviewing “[c]ourts should not upset a plea solely because of post hoc assertions from a defendant about how he would have pleaded but for his attorney’s deficiencies. Lee, 582 U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. at 1967. Rather, judges should “look to contemporaneous evidence to substantiate a defendant’s expressed preferences. Id. In determining whether a guilty plea was taken in accordance with constitutional standards, the reviewing judge must analyze and consider the entire record, including the transcript of the plea and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing. Harres, 282 S.C. at 134, 318 S.E.2d at 361.

“[I]t is the prerogative of any person to [waive his rights, confess, and plead guilty, under judicially defined safeguards, which are adequately enforced.” Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 685, 511 S.E.2d 396, 401 (Ct. App. 1999). Accordingly, because a criminal defendant waives several constitutional rights by pleading guilty the Due Process Clause requires that guilty pleas are entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969); Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 524 S.E.2d 623 (1999).

To be intelligent, a plea must be made by a mentally competent defendant who understands both the charges against him or her and the consequences of his or her plea. Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 748 (1970). To be voluntary, a plea must be free of threats or other coercion that would impermissibly distort the defendant’s choice. Id. at 755; see also United States v. Smith, 440 F.2d 521, 528–529 (7th Cir. 1971) (Stevens, J., dissenting) (explaining voluntariness relates to the trustworthiness of the admission of guilt and binding character of the waiver of the constitutional protections which would be available to the accused if he elected to stand trial).

Before a court can accept a guilty plea, the defendant must be advised of the constitutional rights he or she is waiving; the right to a jury trial, the right to confront one’s accusers, and the privilege against self-incrimination. Boykin, 395 U.S. at 243. Additionally, in order to knowingly

and voluntarily plead guilty, the defendant must have a full understanding of the consequences of the plea, including the nature and crucial elements of the offense(s); the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty; and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived. Pittman, 337 S.C. at 599, 524 S.E.2d at 624.

However, it is “well established that a guilty plea is not rendered invalid because it represents a compromise by defendant, thrusts a difficult judgment upon him, or is motivated by fear of greater punishment.” United States v. Cox, 464 F.2d 937, 942 (6th Cir. 1972) (citing Brady, 397 U.S. 742). The standard for determining the validity of a guilty plea is “whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.” Id. at 31.

A defendant’s knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and “may be accomplished by colloquy between court and defendant, between court and defendant’s counsel, or both.” State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993); see also Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 485 S.E.2d 367 (1997) (guilty plea not involuntary where the colloquy demonstrated the trial judge asked defendant twice whether he understood there were no promises and that no sentencing recommendations were binding on the judge). To ensure the defendant understands the consequences of his or her guilty or the trial judge “usually questions the defendant about the facts surrounding the crime and punishment that could be imposed.” Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 434–35, 405 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991). However, the trial judge “does not have to direct the defendant’s attention to every consequence of his plea provided the record reveals affirmative awareness of the consequences of a guilty plea.” Carter v. State, 329 S.C. 355, 362, 495 S.E.2d 773, 776 (1998).

The voluntariness of a guilty plea, however, “is not determined by an examination of the

specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea and the record of the post-conviction hearing.” Harres, 282 S.C. at 133, 318 S.E.2d at 361. In evaluating an allegation on PCR that a guilty plea was based on inaccurate advice of counsel, the transcript of the guilty plea hearing will be considered to determine whether any possible error by counsel was cured by the information conveyed at the plea hearing. Wolfe, 326 S.C. at 165, 485 S.E.2d at 370; cf. Rayford v. State, 314 S.C. 46, 443 S.E.2d 805 (1994) (finding that, where the transcript of the guilty plea proceeding refuted applicant’s claim that he did not understand the terms of a plea bargain, granting PCR was inappropriate notwithstanding applicant’s claim his lawyer misadvised him).

An applicant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may “only attack voluntary, knowing and intelligent character of the plea by showing that plea counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the [Applicant] would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001).

In this case, the post-conviction relief court properly found that Petitioner failed to meet her burden of proof of establishing his counsel was ineffective or her plea was not knowingly, voluntarily, or intelligently entered based on her assertions that she was improperly advised to plead guilty without full access to discovery, including forensic analysis that was still forthcoming when she entered her plea. The record from the general sessions proceeding and the post-conviction relief proceeding all establish Petitioner entered a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent plea with the advice of competent counsel, who thoroughly investigated Petitioner’s case to the best of his ability despite the restrictions Petitioner placed upon him (including a restriction that counsel speak with no one about her case). (App. 126-27). Counsel utilized a private investigator,

reviewed all discovery available with Petitioner, and formulated possible defenses with Petitioner based on this investigation and preparation. (App. 137-39). Counsel also properly advised Petitioner of the potential pitfalls of these possible defenses and why they would likely be unsuccessful at trial. (App. 124-26, 135-3).

Counsel also acted in accordance with Petitioner's explicit instructions, including her demands that he attempt to negotiate a plea agreement on her behalf as quickly as possible. (App. 128-29). When the State was unwilling to entertain a plea agreement based on the heinous nature of this brutal crime and Petitioner's readily-apparent lack of remorse, counsel then followed Petitioner's express instructions to file a motion for a speedy trial and arranged for Petitioner to plead guilty as soon as possible. (App. 128-29). He also advised her that forensic analysis regarding items recovered from the victim's car, including the hammer, was not complete by the time she wanted to enter her plea and the implications of this. (App. 124-26, 135-38). Specifically, counsel advised Petitioner that the results of the forensic analysis would be of minimal probative value and would not likely have an impact on her case because Petitioner readily admitted she was present at the crime scene and the evidence already known at the time of the plea showed that she was at the very minimum a willing participant in the brutal attack of the victim, defeating any mere presence or duress defenses they had explored. (App. 124-26, 135-38). The record establishes that Petitioner was in such a hurry to get her case resolved that she asked counsel to waive a pre-sentencing report against his advice, which counsel did based on Petitioner's express demand. (App. 19-20, 132). The post-conviction relief court properly found that counsel provided effective representation of Petitioner, which is supported by the record from the general sessions proceedings including the plea and sentencing transcripts.

In contrast, Petitioner's testimony, which she relies upon to support her claims on appeal, is inherently inconsistent, incredible, and was properly rejected by the post-conviction relief court. For example, Petitioner first stated that she did not discuss anything but potential sentences with counsel but then later acknowledges that she discussed defenses and viewed discovery with counsel. (App. 95-96, 99-102). Petitioner also claimed that she never discussed the lack of forensic reports in her discovery with counsel but also testified she raised this very issue with counsel and he "ignored" her and changed the subject. (App. 98, 104-05, 118). Petitioner also claimed that she was not aware of the results of the forensic testing until months following her sentencing proceeding, an assertion that is directly contradicted by the record from the sentencing proceeding where the prosecutor discusses those results with Petitioner present. (App. 37-38, 105). While Petitioner now asserts she would not have pled guilty without DNA or fingerprint testing on the items recovered from the car, the fact remains that Petitioner did indeed plead guilty without any such forensic testing and the record indicates she was aware these reports were not complete at the time of her plea.

In sum, Petitioner's claims, both during the evidentiary hearing and now on appeal, lack credibility and strain credulity. Petitioner requested her counsel get her case resolved as soon as possible and counsel did so in accordance with Petitioner's express wishes. Petitioner's life sentence is not the result of any error or omission on the part of counsel, but rather, is a reflection of the horrifically brutal crime and Petitioner's lack of any remorse whatsoever, as evidenced by her mocking of the victims during sentencing. (App. 51-52, 58-59, 120, 134-35).

The post-conviction relief court properly found counsel was sufficiently prepared and rendered effective assistance of counsel. The court further found the record clearly established

Petitioner's plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. Ample evidence supports these findings. The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief and this Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

Because the post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional deprivations, this Court should deny certiorari. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues raised.